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IN THE UNITED STAT ES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF ARIZONA

United States of America, No. CV-12-00482-PHX-DGC
Plaintiff, ORDER

V.

Grace Xunmei Li,

Defendanh

Defendant Grace Xunmei Land Plaintiff United Sttes of America (“the

government”) have both filed motions feummary judgment. Docs. 134, 157. Th

motions have been fully briedeand the Court held oralgarment on February 27, 2014.

For the reasons stated below, the Couit deny the government’s motion and grat
Defendant’s motion in part.

l. Background.

Li came to the United States in 1995 at the af25. Docs. 134 at 1, 151 at 8. Li

met Antony Bambrough early dh year at a swimming poah Fort Lee, New Jersey.
Doc. 135, 1 13, Doc. 151 at 8. The caujplecame romanticallinvolved and were
married two years later in Febryaof 1997. Doc. 135 1 14-18.

Li met Gang Chen in May of 1991d., 1 20, Doc. 161 at 16Although the exact
date on which their relationghibecame romantic is disputed, Li asserts that she

Chen began an affair in Deceenldl998. Doc. 133] 20. Li allegeshat “sometime” in

1998 she moved out d¢iie house that she and Bambrowtjlared as a residence in Fofrt
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Lee, New Jersey, though the parties disagreslgnshe left. Doc. 161, 1 30. In Augus
of 1998, Li and her mother purchased a handeort Lee where, aording to Chen, he
would “sometimes” stayDoc. 161, 1 32-34.

Although she remained marriéol Bambrough, over the xieseveral years Li gave
birth to two daughters fathered by Chen. DIR5, {f 7-8. In 199%efore the birth of
her first daughter, Li informed Bambrough, who was still her husband at the time, th
child she was expecting was not hisl., 21, Doc. 161 at 20The first daughter of Li
and Chen was born in Septemi®99. Doc. 135, | 27.

Li, Chen, and their daughter moved to Galifia in 2000. Docl61, 11 72-73.
They made an offer on a house tibge in December of that yeatd., § 76. In 2002, Li
gave birth to a second daughtalso fatheredyy Chen. Id., § 28. At som@oint before
July 5, 2002, Li and Chen went to the $a@tara County Clerk’s office and applied for
marriage licenseld., 11 42-43. On July 5, 2002, &nd Chen participated in a churc

wedding ceremony with family and friends theds presided over by a Lutheran past

flown in from out of state.ld., 1 38, 41. The coupleah hosted a post-ceremony

banquet for their guestdd., § 38. The pastor who performed the ceremony believed
marriage was legitimateld., § 42. After the ceremony, a copy of the marriage lice
was sent to and recorded by the &a@kara County Recder’s Office. Id., 1 50. Li was

fully aware that she was mard to Bambrough at the tinoé the ceremony with Chen
Id., 1 35.

The government asserts that Li and Chieereafter represented themselves
husband and wife in a series of contracts Egal documents. Doc. 151 at 10-11. F
example, the government submits evidencettieyt purchased a hoyseplied to a legal
complaint under penalty of perjury, refimed a home, submitted a residential lo
application, purchased a seconouse, and filed tax returnall as husband and wife
Doc. 152, 11 119-147Li provides no evidence to tlo®ntrary, nor does she dispute th
validity of the documents citeby the government. Despiter relationship with Chen,

Li remained married to Antony Bambrough until they divorced in 2004. Doc. 135,
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Eight months after her divorce from marough, on Septeoer 24, 2004, Li
submitted an N-400 applitan for naturalization to become a U.S. citizdd., § 57. Li
represented on the application that she Wgsdivorced, (2) chiltkss, (3) had been
married only once, (4) hadever committed a crime oiffense for which she was no
arrested, and (5) had never been mamoetiore than one person at a tinid.,  59. On
April 18, 2005, Li metwith Officer Que-HuongNguyen for her natuhaation interview.
Id., T 60. Li’'s application fonaturalization was approvedathday and Lbecame a U.S.
citizen on May 5, 2005l1d., 1 60-62.

In 2008, Li was charged with conspiraimycommit naturalization fraud under 1
U.S.C. 8§ 371 and unlawful @curement of naturalization eftizenship under 18 U.S.C
§ 1425. Li pled guilty in August of 2009 itme United States District Court for th
Northern District of California to miolation of 18 U.S.C. § 1015(a)d., 1 65-70. The

elements of this offense included (1) knogly making a false statement under oath,

(2) in a matter relating to natlization or citizenship undereiaws of the United States|

Id., {1 74. Li's plea agreement includecetfollowing factual basis for her plea:

On September 24, 2004, while living $an Jose, California, | submitted a
petition for naturalization to the UndeStates Citizenship & Immigration
Services (CIS). In that petition, ilnowingly made the following false
statements and omissions: (1) | claintedbe “divorced,” when in fact |
was married at the time to Gang “SteV€hen (“Chen”); (2) | omitted that

| had any children, when in fact | hao children withChen; (3) | claimed
that | had been married only once — refgy to my prior marriage to a man
identified in the Superseding Inforti@n by his initials, A.B. — when in
fact | had been marrietivice; and (4) | responded “No” to a question
asking whether | had ever been marrtedmore than one person at the
same time, when in facbetween July 5, 200@&nd March 9, 2004, | was
married to both Chen and A.B.

On April 18, 2005, | ap@eed for an interview wh a CIS adjudicator in
San Jose, California. During that intew, among other false statements, |
stated under penalty of perjury thavery statement contained in my
naturalization petition was correct, knowitigat certain statements in my
naturalization petition, and specificaliyhose described in the previous
paragraph were false ortémtionally misleading.

[
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Id. at 7.

At the sentencing hearing in Deceml2809, the districjudge engaged in &
lengthy colloquy with Li regaling her guilty plea. Docsl35, 1 73-79;158-8. Li
initially maintained thashe believed her maage to Chen was not valid. Doc. 158-8
111. After a lengthy and somvhat confusing explanatidinom the judge, Li was askec
to affirm her admissions and said simplyatmit to the — | admit that | knowingly mad
a false statement.” Doc. 1588 114. Li did not spegifwhich “false statement” she
made. The prosecutor said that Li'smaslsion was “close emgh,” and the judge
sentenced Li to probation and a $500 fihe. at 114, 116, 118.

Il. Legal Standard.

A party seeking summary judgment “bears the initial responsibility of inform
the district court of the basis for its moti@nd identifying those portions of [the recorg
which it believes demonstrate the absenca gknuine issue ahaterial fact.” Celotex
Corp. v. Catrett, 477 U.S. 317, 323 (1986). Summary judgment is appropriate if
evidence, viewed in the liginost favorable to the nonmoviparty, shows “that there is
no genuine dispute as to any material f@atl the movant is entitled to judgment as
matter of law.” Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(aMilton H. Greene Archives, Inc. v. Marilyn
Monroe LLC, 692 F.3d 983, 992 (9th Cir. 2012%ummary judgment ialso appropriate
against a party who “fails tmake a showing sufficient to tablish the existence of ar
element essential to that party’s case, andvhich that party wilbear the burden of
proof at trial.” Celotex, 477 U.S. at 322. Ondisputes over facts that might affect th
outcome of the suit will preclude the ento§y summary judgment, and the disputs
evidence must be “such that a reasonabig gould return a verdict for the nonmovin
party.” Andersonv. Liberty Lobby, Inc., 477 U.S. 242, 248 (1986).

In a denaturalization proceeding, tgevernment bears the “heavy burden” (
providing “clear, unequivocal, and convincingvidence that citenship should be
revoked. United Sates v. Arango, 670 F.3d 988, 992 {® Cir. 2012) (citingUnited
Sates v. Dang, 488 F.3d 1135, 1139 {9 Cir. 2007)). The gvernment’'s evidence
justifying denaturalization mushbt leave the issuin doubt.” Dang, 488 F.3d at 1139.
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In short, “summary judgmeror the government in a denaturalization proceeding

warranted in narrow circumstances: if, viewthg evidence in the liglmhost favorable to

the naturalized citizen, there is no genuissue of material fact as to whether clea

unequivocal, and convincing evidensepports denaturalization.Arango, 670 F.3d at
992.
[ll.  Judicial Notice.

The government argues thats guilty plea in her prio criminal case is a final
decision that establishes tfects admitted by Li, includingper false statements, fals
testimony in her naturalization interview,caher bigamous marriage Chen. Doc. 157
at 13-15. Li argues that theiljy plea does not have preclusieffect in this subsequen
civil immigration action.Doc. 160 at 7-8.

It is “settled law in this circuit thaa guilty plea may be ed to establish issug
preclusion in a subsequent civil suitJnited Sates v. Real Prop. Located at Section 18,
976 F.2d 515, 519 {B Cir. 1992) (citingJnited Sates v. $31,697.59 Cash, 665 F.2d 903
(9th Cir. 1982);United Sates v. Bgar-Matrecios, 618 F.2d 81 (9tiCir. 1980)). The
Ninth Circuit has applied this principle gisposing of argumenigs immigration cases
that attempt to re-litigatprior criminal convictions. See, e.g., Granados-Mondragon v.
I.N.S, 28 F. App’x 695 (9th Cir. 2002).

In ruling on the government’s motionrfaudgment on the pleadings, the Cou
held thatYoung v. Holder requires that we “treat[] thegd as ‘an admission of only thos
facts that are essential to the convictionDoc. 45 at 6 (citing97 F.3d 976, 988 (9th
Cir. 2012). Although this rulenight not apply to a crimad conviction like Li’'s that
included a detailed factual admission in thkea agreement, ¢hrecord from Li's

conviction is more comjated. As noted above, Li erggad in a colloquyvith the judge

about what precisely she was admitting. DIR®5-2 at 52. Li’'s consel raised concerng

about whether or not Li engayen the acts described the plea agreement, and th
judge provided a lengthgxplanation beforeasking what Li was admittingld. at 55.
She responded: “I admit thakhowingly made a false statemt,” without icentifying the
false statement. Doc. 158-8 at 114.
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The government seeks Li's denaturdi@a based on allegations that she gal
false testimony during her naturalization miew, lied on her natulzation application,
and was bigamously married @ang Chen, among otherglthough Li's written plea
agreement contained admissionsath of these acts, the ogjuy with the judge left an
imprecise record as the specific basis for her conviati. At the key moment, when thg
judge sought to confirm that there was audatbasis for convictior,.i admitted only to
making “a false statement,” an admission pinesecutor said was “close enough.” T}
judge proceeded ahe basis of that admission.

From this record, the Coucannot take judicial notice dfi's admission to all of
the false statements detth in her plea agreement. “[O]nly matteesessarily decided
in the prior action are barred froralitigation by collateral estoppelSection 18, 976

F.2d at 519 (emphasis addeaid the only matter necessarmlgcided prior to conviction

was that Li knowingly made amspecified false statemenfs a result, the Court takes

judicial notice only of this admission.
V.  Analysis.

The government seeks to denaturalizeuhdler 8 U.S.C. § 1451(a). This statu
provides that the Court musider the revocation of a persemiaturalization certificate if
(1) the naturalization was illegally procureat, (2) the naturalization was procured 4
concealment of a material fact or by willfolisrepresentation. The government asse
six claims against Li that sl that she either illegally pcured her naturalization ol
procured it through willful misrepresentatiamd concealment of maial facts. Those
claims include the following: (1) Li gavéalse testimony dumg her naturalization
interview; (2) Li's convictionunder 81015(a) in the criminahse was a crime involving
moral turpitude that precluded her naturdlma (3) Li committed bigamy, which is a

crime involving moral turpitude; (4) Li comited bigamy, which is an unlawful act thg

reflected poorly on her moral character anecprded her from naturalizing; (5) Li had an

! This conclusion will not necessarifgrevent the Court frm considering the
dgtagledbladmlssmns in her plea agreemeng\adence during trial, assuming they a
admissible.
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extra-marital affair which tended to dest her marriage to Babrough and evidenced
bad moral character; and (6) Wwillfully misrepresented andoncealed material facts ir
her naturalization application. Doc. 16.

Counts | through V concern the first prong of 8 U.8@451(a) — that Li illegally
procured her naturalizationA certificate of citizenship isillegally procured” when the
applicant fails to comply witlall congressionally-imposedgrequisites to the acquisitior
of citizenship. Fedorenko v. United Sates, 449 U.S. 490, 5061981). One of those
prerequisites is that a person be “of gondral character” during a period from five
years before filing an application for naturaliion until the date the person takes the o
of allegiance to become a citizen. 8 U.§8A.427(a)(3); 8 C.F.R§ 316.10(a)(1). Count
VI concerns the second pron§i8 1415(a) and alleges tHatprocured her citizenship by
willfully concealing and misragsenting her marital statuend the existence of he
extramarital children. The Courtithaddress each count separately.

A. Count | — False testimony.

Being of good moral character is angressionally-imposed prerequisite 1o

citizenship. “Under 8 U.S.(8 1101(f)(6), a person shall lokeemed not to be of goog
moral character if he has given false testiy for the purpose of obtaining immigratio
or naturalization benefits.Kungys v. United Sates, 485 U.S. 759, 779 (1988). The fals
statements need not be materialt they must be false, made orally and under oath,
made for the purpose of obtaigian immigration benefitld.

The government alleges Li gave falsml testimony durig her naturalization
interview on April 18, 2005 irresponse to four differerquestions. Doc. 16 at 7
Specifically, the governmentsserts that Li testified sh@) had no children, (2) wag
divorced, (3) had only beenarried once, and (4) had new®mmitted a crime for which
she had not been arrestetl. The government argues tHatlied about each of thess
subjects during her naturalizatiorterview. Doc. 151 at 20.

Li appeared for her naturalization intew and gave oral g8imony under oath.
Doc. 135,1 60; Doc. 152, {15 Li's interview took place&luring the statutory period in
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which she was required to be of good moral chardcter.argues, however, that the

government cannot show by clear and convincing evidence that the questions wh
allegedly answered falsely were asked duringriterview. Doc. 160 at 9. She suppor
this contention by noting thathe Court may not takeuglicial notice of her plea
agreement in which she admittedking these false statemenitd.

The Court has taken judicialotice only of Li's admigsn that she made a falsg
statement. The Court does not know whethat statement was madeher application
for naturalization or during lmeinterview because that fact was not specified in {
colloquy. The Court therefore cannot cam# that Li's admitted false statemei
satisfies the oral testimgmequirement in Count I.

Although no audio owideo recording of Li's inteview with Officer Nguyen is
available, and Nguyen canneicall the interview, the govement argues that there is n
guestion that Nguyen asked Li about heritahistatus and her dbren. Relying on
Nguyen'’s testimony and the government’s dgthbd procedures for such interviews, tf
government asserts that Nguyen made nédannotations on Li'tN-400 form on each
guestion asked of Li, includinguestions about Li's marital status and childreg
Doc. 157 at 21. In response, Li relies oe #xpert report of an immigration attorne
who has attended dozens of such naturatimaitnterviews and whdeclares that while
“[iJt is common for interviewers to makenarks on N-400 applations during an
interview . . . not every mark . . . is conerst with a specific question being asked
answered.” Doc. 172-1 at 13ccording to Li's expertsuch marks “damot necessarily
mean a question was asked orally or thabi&ah answer to a question was given durit
the interview.” Id.

The Court concludes that a material issuéof exists as to whether Li was aske
the relevant questions andopided oral testimony in respans As a result, the Courf
cannot grant summary judgmeior the government. Theame factual issue preclude

summary judgment for Li on this claim.

® This period for Li ran from SeBtembM, 1999, five years before she submitts
her N-400 application, until May 5, 2005gtkhate of her admission to citizenship.
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B. Count Il — Conviction under 18 U.S.C § 1015(a).
The government argues that a viaatiof 18 U.S.C. § 1015(a) is a crim

D

involving moral turpitude, and that Li’'s contien of that crime establishes that she was
not of good moral character and was statutongfigible for naturalzation. Docs. 16 at
8-9, 151 at 29, 38. Li argues that a vima of § 1015(a) is nca crime involving moral
turpitude. Doc. 134 at 28.

In determining whether aione is one of moral turpitugéhe Court must examine
first, what offense the petitioner was cortgt of committing, and second, whether such
conduct is a crime involving moral turpitude @sfined in the applicable section of the
Immigration and Naturalization Act (“INA”). Marmolego-Campos v. Holder, 558 F.3d
903, 907 (9th Cir. 2009). The Court htken judicial notice that Li committed a

violation of § 1015(a) by knowingly makingfalse statement. A crime involving mors

turpitude is defined as a crime “inherentlysbavile, or depraved, and contrary to the
accepted rules of morality and the duties owedven persons or to siety in general.”
Robles-Urrea v. Holder, 678 F.3d 702, 708 (9th Cir022). Such crimes generally
involve fraud or grave acts of baseness or depralaty.

The government argues that Li's violatiof § 1015(a) is, byts very nature, a
crime involving moral turpitude because an mt® defraud is implicit in making a false
statement on a naturalizatiapplication and is akin t@erjury in the immigration
context. Doc. 151 at 39-4QLi responds that she did npiead guilty to fraud, which was
initially charged. Doc. 160 at 2. She algues that her plea waot knowingly made,
and that the crime does not carry sufficibad intent to constite a crime involving
moral turpitude.ld.

The parties have not ideined, nor has the Courbtind, any authority dictating
whether violation of§ 1015(a) constitutes a crime invaigi moral turpitude. Courts
generally apply a categorical approach wheswaaning this questioripoking first to the
statutory definition of the offense to see ffii¢ into one of the tw identified categories,
fraud or grave acts of baseness and depravitytaktly v. Ashcroft, 371 F.3d 613, 620

-9-
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(9th Cir. 2004). “If it is not clear from th&tatutory definition whether the offense is

gualifying offense, we apply ¢hmodified categorical approach, in which we may lo

beyond the language of the statt a narrow, specified set @ddcuments that are part of

the record of conviction,” including thatate charging document, a signed pl
agreement, jury instructiongguilty pleas, transcripts oplea proceedings and th
judgment. Notash v Gonzales, 427 F.3d 693, 6979th Cir. 2005) (citingFerreira v.
Ashcroft, 390 F.3d 1091, 1095 (9thir. 2004) (internal cites omitted)). “If the record ¢
conviction does not estlgh that the offense is a qualifig offense, the government hg
failed to meet its burden.l'd. at 697.

“Not all false statements to the federalgmment are crimes of moral turpitude
Fetamia v. Ridge, 3-03-CV-2841-BD, 2004NVL 1194458 (N.D. TexMay 27, 2004).
And while the elements of tfexime at issue here do require that a party knowingly m
false statements, the Ninth Circuit has hébt “[w]illfulness alone . . . does no
categorically indicate an intent to defraudNbtash, 427 F.3d at 698.

1. Categoricalapproach.

A person violates § 1015(d)he or she (1) “knowingl makes any false statemer
under oath, (2) in any case, proceeding, noatter relating to ... naturalization
citizenship or registry of aliens.” Thstatute does not expiily require fraudulent
conduct on the part of the perpetrator, noesid explicitly require that the perpetratg
take the prohibited action in orderderive a benefit of some sort.

Where the intent to defraud is inherenthe nature of a crimeéhe crime is one of
moral turpitude even if there is no express element of fraijéni v. Holder, 628 F.3d
1071, 1076 (9th Cir. @.0). Courts have found an inherent fraud requirement whe
criminal statute requires specific intentatha false statement be relied upon. H
example, the court iffijani found inherent fraud in a staé that required “knowingly
mak[ing] or caus[ing] to be made. . any false statment in writing,with intent that it
shall be relied upon . . . for the purpose of procuring [paymend.’at 1075 (emphasis
added). InCarty v. Ashcroft, 1081 (9th Cir. 2006 the Ninth Circuit found fraud inheren
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In a tax evasion statute that made it a crforea person to “willflly fail[] to file any
return or to suply any informationwith intent to evade any tax|[.]” 1d. at 1083 (emphasis
added). TheCarty court found that the esof the word “evade” was so wound up with
fraud that a violation of the xasection was “tantamount anduggplent to an intent to
defraud for deportation purposedd. at 1085.

Section 1015(a) does not reguthat a false statement fmade with any particular
intent. In fact, the statute does not evequne that the false atements be made to

influence the immigration process or puog an immigration benefit — any fals

D

statements made “in relation to” an ingration proceeding W do. 18 U.S.C.
§ 1015(a). Other subgemns of the same statute do criminalize behavior done with intent
or in order to procure a benefit, but suclent is noticeablyabsent from the plain
language of subsection § 1015(a)f. 8§ 1015(b) (criminalizing “knowingly, with intent
to avoid any duty ofiability imposed or requiredy law,” denying citizenship) and
8§ 1015(e) (criminalizing knowinglynaking a false claim to cigenship “with the intent to
obtain . . . any Federal or State benefitservice”). In the aktence of an intent
requirement or some other indication that adrdent state of mind is required, the Court
finds no basis to conclude that a viadatiof 8 1015(a) is inliently fraudulent.
The government also argues thatvimlation of 8§ 1015(a) is “essentially
naturalization-specific perjury,” and that pew is a well-accepted crime involving mordl
turpitude. Doc. 157 at 38But materiality is an essential element of perjlutgiter of S
2 1. & N. Dec. 353 (BIA 1945)see also Bronston v. United Sates, 409 U.S. 352, 355
(2000), and materiality is not regqed for a violation of § 1015(a))nited Sates v.
Youssef, 547 F.3d 1090, 109®th Cir. 2008) (“The plain language of § 1015(a) does nhot
require the false statemeantbe material.”).
In sum, the Court concludes that aplation of 8§ 1015(a) is not inherently
fraudulent and does not includlee element of materialityseential to perjury. As a
result, the crime Li was coroted of committing is not cagerically a crime involving

moral turpitude.
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2. Modified categorical approach.
As noted above, if a crime is not categorically a crime inmglworal turpitude,

courts apply the modified agorical approach and “lodieyond the language of thg

A]%4

statute to a narrow, specified set of documémds are part of theecord of conviction,”
including the state charging dguent, a signed plea agreerguary instructions, guilty
pleas, transcripts of pleaqmeedings and the judgmenilotash, 427 F.3d at 697. The
purpose of this inquiry is to identify, gossible, the preciseigre that was committed,

and the government carries the burden awshg that the conviction was for a crim

11°)

involving moral turpitude.ld. at 698-700.

As already noted, Li aditted only to knowngly making “a” false statement
Because Li did not admit during the collggtihat she possessed a fraudulent intent,| or
sought to procure some bengfthrough her false statentgthe Court cannot conclude
from her admission that she committed a crim@lving fraud and therefore a crime of
moral turpitude. For reasons described abthasCourt takes judicial notice only of Li’s
precise admission, not of other statetsarontained in her plea agreement.

Nor can the Court conclude that Li comnitthe equivalent gberjury. As noted
above, perjury requires a falseatement that is materialndthe materiality of the false
statement Li made was never an issue inchierinal case. As already noted, § 1015(g)
does not require materialityfoussef, 547 F.3d at 1093.

For these reasons, the Court concluded th's 8§ 1015(a) conviction is not g
crime of moral turpitude under the modifiethtegorical approach. Review of the
relevant documents from her 2009 convictian@y does not estabhsthat the crime she

committed involved fraud or was tantamouiat perjury, and the government hgs

D

provided no other basis on which to clhmle that her conviction was for a crim
involving moral turpitude.

The Court will grant summary judgmentrfoi on Count Il. There is no further
issue of fact to be decided on this claiifhe issue is not whether the government could

show Li's alleged false statentsrto be fraudulent or materiat the trial in this case.
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The issue is whether her 2009 conviction wasaforime of moral turpitude, an issue th

must be resolved by looking that conviction. BecausedhCourt cannot conclude that

the conviction is a crime oforal turpitude under either the categorical or modifi
categorical approaches, the Court conclutea matter of law that it is not.

C. Count Il — Bigamy as a crime involving moral turpitude.

The government asserts that Li wast md good moral chracter during the

statutory period because she committed migander California law by marrying Chef

while still married to Bambragh. Bigamy is indeed a crime involving moral turpitude,

Gonzales-Martinez v. Landon, 203 F.2d 196, 197 (9th €Ci1953), but it cannot along

justify Li’'s denaturalization. A single crime of moral tuffude cannot be grounds fof

denaturalization if the maximum statutasgntence for the crime does not exceed (

year, and, if the person was convicted & thime, the person ditbt receive a sentence

of more than six months. 8 U.S.C. 82{a)(2)(A)(ii))(Il). Bigamyis punishable under

California law by a prison term “not exceedioge year,” Cal. Crim. Code § 283, and Li

was never convicted or imprisoned for bigamy. Because bigamy is the only ¢
alleged in Count Il (Doc. 16 at 11-12ymmary judgment will be granted for Li.

D. Count IV — Bigamy as evi@énce of bad moral character.

The government alleges that Li illegalprocured her citizenship because s

committed an unlawful act of ¢gamy that reflected advely on her moral characte

during the statutory period. 016 at 10. Specifically, ¢hgovernment cites 8 C.F.R.

8 316.10(b)(3)(ii), which provides that “weds the applicant esigshes extenuating
circumstances, the applicant shall be found to lack good moeabhater if . . . the

applicant . . . Committed undul acts that adversely reflect upon the applicant’'s mag

At

d

(D

—

ne

Lrime

ral

character.” The govement asserts that Li cannot establish extenuating circumstance:

with regard to her commissiarf bigamy. Doc. 16 at 10.
Li disputes that she ever committed bigan8he argues thatsmever intended to
marry Chen, that her weddjnto Chen was a “mock” cemony staged to appeas

members of his family, and that she did ndidwe their marriage tbe legitimate from a
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legal standpoint. Des. 134, 135, 1 &.Li submits deposition testimony from Chen, wh
also asserts that they never intended to be legally mgbeed 135, Ex. 10), an affidavit
from Li's mother, RubyZhao, who states that she kn¢hey never intended to marry
(Doc. 135, Ex. 11), and an affidavit frome8¢ Greschner, a friend of Li's who latg
became her husband, stating that he also khat\Li and Chen neventended to legally
marry (Doc. 135, Ex. 12).Li also testified in her own deposition that she did not inte
to marry Chen. Doc. 135-1 at 15.

The government has submitt@dany documents to shothe nature of Li and
Chen’s relationship and their intent to maayd live as a married couple. Doc. 15
19 52-61, 71-101. It has alleb¢éhat the ceremony was redal,, 11 102-118, and thaf
after the ceremony Li and Chen held themsglgut as husband and wife, as evideng
by numerous legal documenid, {1 119-147.

The evidence presented by &nd the government creatas issue of fact as tg

whether Li and Chen intended to marry émerefore committed bigamy under California

law. Summary judgment will be denied for both sides.

E. Count V — Extramarital affair.

The government asserts that Li wast md good moral chracter during the
statutory period because shegaged in an extramarital afifathat had a tendency td
destroy her marriageSee 8 C.F.R. 8 316.10(b)(3)(ii) Unless the applicant establishe
extenuating circumstances, thgpacant shall be found to lack good moral character
during the statutory period, the applicant [h]ad an extramaritalffair which tended to
destroy an existing marriage.”). There is dispute that Li had aextramarital affair

with Chen. Li met Chen sm after she was married to Bambrough and began an a

® Li also argues that even if she hatknded to marry G#n, the marriage would
have been |IIe5gaI and void ¢muse she was already married Antony Bambrough.
Docs. 134, 135, 1 6. Thargument lacks merit. A pens can be party to an illega
marrlage and still beé)rosecuted gamy under Cdiornia law. Gersten v. C.I.R., 26
F.2d 195 (9th Cir. 1959).

* The Court gives little weighto the affidavit from Li'smother given Li's own
ﬁssclerhtl_on in this litigation that her mothersweot capable of being deposed due to mer
ealth issues.
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with Chen in 1998. Doc. 13%,20. In late 1998 or earl999, she was pregnant wit
her first child by Chenld., { 21.

There is, however, a factual dispute asvtether the affair tended to destroy L

and Bambrough’s marriageDoc. 160 at 22.Bambrough asserted Ims deposition that
he found out about the affawhen Li told him she was pragnt with another man’s child
sometime in the spring of 199and that it was the affathat caused the end of hi
marriage to Li. Doc. 152, § 39Li, on the other hand, argues that the affair was not

cause of her break-up with Bdérough. Doc. 160 a2. She asserts that she lg

Bambrough because he quit a job1998 against her wishedd. at 23. She also has

presented evidence that Bamigb accepted the relationship she had with Chen and
the three of them got along well evafter the affair came to lightd. at 22.

Whether the extramarital affair betweendnd Chen had a tendency to destroy {
marriage is an issue of fact that must be resbbt trial. Summarnudgment is denied as
to both parties on this issue.

F. Count VI — Willful misrep resentation and concealment.

The government argues that Li procuteet citizenship bywillfully concealing
and misrepresenting her marital status ardkistence of her children, and that su
willful concealment and misrepresentaticn a sufficient ground for denaturalizatio
under 8 U.S.C. 8§ 1451(a). Dot6 at 12. Section 145)(aontains four independen
requirements for revocation aftizenship based on concea&nt or misrepresentation
(1) the naturalized citizen mti have misrepresented ooncealed some fact, (2) th

misrepresentation or concealmenust have been willful, {3the fact must have beer

> Li objects to_admission of the affivit of Antony Bamhough because she
contends that the affidavit is inconsistemth his deposition and therefore should I
disregarded undéd€ennedy v. Allied Mut. Ins. Co., 952 F.2d 262, 2667 (9th Cir 1991),
and Radobenko v. Automated Equ;g. Corp., 520 F.2d 540, 543-449th Cir. 1975
Doc. 161 at 2. BotliKennedy and Radobenko concern situations in which a party to

submission of a sham affidavit. Bambroughnot a party to thidawsuit, nor has L
provided a basis for concluding that differeadetween his affidavit and deposition
‘not the result of an honest discrepanaymistake, or the result of newly discoverg
evidence.” Kennedy, 952 F.2d at 266-67.

lawsuit attempted to defeat summary judginby creating an issue of fact thrOUjh
[
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material, and (4) the naturalizedizen must have procurentizenship as a result of the

misrepresentation or concealmekKingys, 485 U.S. at767.

In its motion for summary judgment, the government alleges several false

statements on Li's N-400 and in her matization interview, including that she
concealed the existence of lefrildren and misrepresentedr mearital history. Doc. 157
at 47-49. The government relies primardn Li's 2009 conviction as a basis for
summary judgment on Countl\Vbut also argues from the idence that Li lied about
having no children and abbher marital history.ld.

The Court cannot grant sumary judgment on this count. If the 2009 conviction
Is not considered, the factual disputes ussed above preventtiCourt from concluding
that Li knowingly made false statements conoeg her marital status. Li also disputgs
that she knowingly failed to disclose her dmndn, contending that she misunderstood the
requirements of the naturalization form.

If the 2009 conviction isansidered, the governmerttlishas not established its
right to summary judgment. Although Li admitted toknowingly making a false
statement, she did not identithe false statement and tl®urt therefore cannot take
judicial notice that she admitted any particu@se statement. As a result, even if the
Court could conclude from Li'sonviction that the first tev requirements of § 1451(a

are met — a misrepresentation of fact tisawillful — the Cout could grant summary

D

judgment for the government on this count only if it caallkb conclude that each of th
alleged misrepresentations was materiad aesulted in her procing citizenship, the
third and fourth requirements under § 1451 (&tated differently, because the recofd
from the 2009 conviction does not reveal whialse statement Ladmitted, the Court
would have to conclude that af the possible false statentsrsatisfy the materiality and
causation requirements of § 1451(a) befonmmary judgment could be entered. The
Court cannot reach such a conclusion.

The parties have presented conflictingdemce on whether thfailure to disclose

Li’'s children in the immigration process was miatkto or resulted irher naturalization.
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Docs. 172-1 at 13, 170-2 at 5-1This factual issue on one tfe alleged false statement
prevents the Court from granting summnpadgment for the governmeht.
V. Request for stay.

Li asks the Court to stay these procegdipending olution of a habeas petition
she has brought in the United States District Court of the Northern District of Califg
challenging the validity of her 2009 convictiorDoc. 160 at 2.Li contends that the
California court has not rehed the merits of her pgon because #h petition was
dismissed on procedural grounds, and that she has since filed a Rule 59 motion to
the judgment.ld.

A district court has the inhent power to stay proceedjs, and whether to grant
stay is within the court’s discretion and apprafa when it serves the interests of judici
economy and efficiencyRivers v. Walt Disney Co., 980 F. Supp. 1358360 (C.D. Cal.
1997) (citingWeisman v. Se. Hotel Prop. Ltd., No. 91-6232,1992 WL 131080, at *6
(S.D.N.Y. June 1, 1992)). Theer to stay is “incidental tthe power inherent in every

court to control the disposition of the caason its docket witleconomy of time and

effort for itself, for cainsel, and for litigants.”Rivers, 980 F. Supp. at 1360 (quoting

Landisv. N. Am. Co., 299 U.S. 248, 254 (1936%old v. John-Manville Sales Corp., 723
F.2d 1068, 1077 (3d Cir. 1983 When considering a motido stay, the district court
should consider three factors: (1) potential prejudioe the non-moving party;
(2) hardship and inequity to the moving paift the action is nbstayed; and (3) the
judicial resources that would Isaved by avoiding duplicativigigation if the cases are in
fact consolidated. Rivers, 980 F. Supp. at 1360, (citingm. Seafood v. Magnolia
Processing, Inc., Nos. 92-1030, 92-10861992 WL 102762, at *2 (E.D. Penn. May 7,
1992)).

Li's habeas petition was denied by t@alifornia federal court as untimely
United Sates v. Li, 5:09-CR-00177-EJD;12013 WL 6140860 (ND. Cal. Nov. 21,

_° Materiality is a question for the Coutiyt it “rests upon a factual evidentiar
showing” that is now in disputand will be resolved at trialKungys, 485 U.S. at 772
(citation and quotation marks omitted).
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2013). Li's motion to amenaimply asks the court tgrant her a certificate of
appealability so she can appeal the disrhissahe Ninth Circit. If the motion is

granted and Li appeals, the appeal could taleeor two years to relse. If she prevails
on her argument that the petitiaras timely, the case wouldtuen to the district court
and start over, a process that could takera¢weore years. The unsuccessful party th
would almost surely appeal to the Ninth Citca process that could again take years
resolve. Thus, even if Li were ultimately to prevail, the procestddake six or more
years to complete. Aldugh the Court understands that much is at stake here for Li
government also has an interest in sedimsg case resolved, araddelay of many years
would prejudice its position as evidergew stale and memories faded.

To evaluate hardship to Li if a staydenied, the Court haswiewed her filings in
the habeas proceeding. Theu@dinds it unlikely that Liwill prevail in her arguments

that she had an available affirmative defettsd counsel did notdwise her of, and that

she did not know her conviction could haserious immigratiorconsequences. The

affirmative defense that Li alleges her lawyer failed to inform her of is that, bec

en

the

AU S

California law voids any bigamous marriagee stould have asserted that her statements

about her marriage on her naturalization fowere true. But she made a simila
argument in this proceeding (Docs. 134, 186) and the Court found above that it lac
merit because a person can be party to agaillmarriage that is void and still be guilt
of bigamy. Gersten, 267 F.2d at 195. As to her argemh that she was not advised of th
immigration consequences ofrh@ea, in addition to the fatihat her 2009 lawyer admits
having told her that a challenge to hetunalization was a possible (albeit unlikely
consequence of her convictiond® 158 at 130), the prosecutor specifically stated dur
her change-of-plea heag that the government could attpt to revoke her citizenship
on the basis of her convictidiboc. 158-8 at 122). Sheonetheless went forward with
her guilty plea.

Because the Court finds it likely that Li will prevail on her habeas claim, th¢

Court concludes that the hardship she will exgere as a result of this Court’s denial ¢
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her stay request does not outweigh the multiryielay the government would endure if
stay were granted.

Finally, the Court’s serious doubts abouwg therits of Li's habeas petition cause
it to conclude that judicial resources are litaly to be savedby delaying this case.

Li’'s unappealed conviction is findbr purposes of this proceedind.ackawanna

Cnty. Dist. Attorney v. Coss, 532 U.S. 394, 403 (2001)The Court concludes that this

action should not be stayed while Lirpues habeas relief in other courts.
IT IS ORDERED:

1. Defendant’s motion for summary judgment (Doc. 134yranted as to
Counts Il and Ill andleniedas to Counts, I, IV, V,r&d VI as set forth above.

2. Plaintiff's motionfor summary judgment (Doc. 157) denied

3. The Court will set a final pnedl conference bgeparate order.

Dated this 6th daof March, 2014.

Nalb Gttt

David G. Campbell
United States District Judge
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